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INTRODUCTION

he old Rolls Royce teetered on the edge
of the slope and rolled forward, gathering
speed and rocketing from bump to bump
as it plunged down the face of Dunstable
Downs. In spite of having no driver at the wheel it
kept a straight course, flattening the scrubby
bushes in its way. Bursting through the last line of
hedgerow, it reached Hangar Ridge and veered
down the incline to finish with its nose high up in
the bushes on the Lynchets pathway. Walter
Neumark was the first of the London Gliding Club
members to reach the vehicle and saw to his
surprise an ancient lady seated in the back of the
old saloon. In his soft spoken, precise English he
politely enquired of her, ‘Good afternoon madam,
did you have an enjoyable ride?” Some time later a
young man appeared, enquiring after the fate of
the passenger. Looking for his inheritance, perhaps?

This is one of the fund of stories that old-time
members of the Club bring out when their
memories are jogged to recall events from long

ago. Before their recollections faded forever, it
seemed to be a good idea to ask around and get
them on record as a sequel to the early history of
the LGC written by Dudley Hiscox. Much of it is
trivia but then this all provides an insight into
gliding during a bygone cra. Different people,
different machines, different methods. Those were
the days when a cross country flight was a
downwind dash without the aid of radio, GPS or
mobile phone, when retrieve cars followed the
presumed track of their pilot and phoned back to
base hourly to see if or where he had landed. The
days indeed when not many glider pilots were car
owners and had to rely on a Club retrieving vehicle
to get them back from an outlanding.

As the three little words ‘Take Up Slack’ signal the
start of the adventure that is embodied in each and
every flight in a glider, so let it open this collection
of tales of epic flights, the records, the
development of the London Gliding Club and of
the characters that made it all happen.
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after several abortive attempts to get the machines
off the ground with fewer. Among those launched
were Lord Semphill, E.C.Gordon England, Capt.
Latimer-Needham, and Marcus Manton (one of
Britain’s earliest aviators, and my first gliding
instructor); also Ashwell-Cooke, the only one who
landed without a bump because be kept just above
the ground throughout bis flight. Finally, Dagnall
himself was persuaded to fly bis own creation. |
remember bearing him ask: ‘I suppose I wait until it
starts moving, and then pull the stick back?’ but
nobody answered him. Evidently taking it that
silence means assent be did precisely this, shot up to
about 50ft and then came more or less to a dead
stop, side-to-wind. A few moments later he was to be
seen extricating himself from a beap of little bits of
Dagling, covered from bead to foot with a thick
layer of alluvial mud.

The following weekend saw the commencement of
training at our first ‘permanent’ site. Great efforts
had been made to find somewhere on the south side
of London, on the ground that communications
were better there. But the various landowners failed
to co-operate, though we very nearly fixed one at
Westerbam.

The site actually found was not far from our present
one; it was in the Tring direction, a few miles north
of Aldbury. Here, where a road runs up a dry
valley, there are steep slopes on either side facing
north east and south west respectively. They were
just right for getting ‘A’ certificates, with the result
that instruction was continually being beld up by
well-known airmen demanding flights down the
bill. On our first day there Lowe-Wylde brought
along bis Primary and obtained the No.1 British
Gliding Certificate.

As for us pupils, ground-slides bad not yet been
invented. My first launch was into a fair wind with
Sfour strong men on each bungee pulling their
bardest, and I was up to 15ft in no time, never
having been off the ground solo before.

We usually started each weekend with two
Primaries and finished up with one or less. Their
steerability was so distrusted that no ‘expert’ would
be launched in one from the top until the other one
had been cleared right off at the bottom. Once we
boldly flung Latimer-Needham over the edge of
Pitstone Hill into a westerly gale. The Zogling
obviously wanted to soar, but be deemed it more
prudent to push its stick forward and whizz douwn
to the bottom with all wires screaming.

The gliders were boused, and tea was provided, at
Down Farm near by. Here one could see people out

of the history books: I well remember the thrill of
sitting beside Howard-Flanders and being passed
the bread-and-butter by Handley Page. There were
many such people from among the founders of
British aviation who came along to recapture that
pioneering spirit they had once known. No doubt
the crashery belped to bring it all back to them.

After using the site for just over a month, we were
turned off on the grounds that the noise disturbed
the birds: Ashridge Park adjoined the flying ground.
And about this time the annual subscription was
raised to three guineas.

During this period the ab-initio pupils had made no
real progress at all. Too often, on turning the least
bit out of wind, they would allow themselves to be
swung right around onto a wing tip. Being under
the false impression that they knew what they were
doing and couldn’t belp it, my erstwhile confidence
began to ooze away. So 1 went off for five or six
weeks to the Rossitten Gliding School in East
Prussia, spent about £40, got forty six launches in
all, and early in the second week fulfilled my
ambition of becoming the first British ab-initio to
get a gliding certificate. In those early days,
everybody who was mixed up in gliding wanted to
be the first to do something or other.

By the middle of May 1930, the Club had secured
the use of Ivinghoe Beacon. Whereupon the LMS
Railway Company put out a leaflet, headed, ‘Please
retain this bill for reference’ (which I have done),
and below that in large letters ‘GLIDING at
IVINGHOE'. Cheap tickets, it said, are issued from
Euston to Tring on Saturdays, Sundays and
Thursday (though Wednesday was our recognised
mid-week flying day) at 6/8d First Class and 4/-
Third. Firsts were allowed 120Ib of luggage and
Third Class 6Olb. No doubt the Company thought
that was ample, seeing that Octave Chanute’s glider,
the only one fully described in English textbooks at
the time, weighed only 22Ib.

1 got back from Germany to find all the ab-initio
group waggling the stick furiously throughout each
hop, every movement being a violent correction of
the effects of the one before. But one pupil, Grabam
Humby, soon drew abead of the rest, and by the
end of July be got bis ‘A’ after a launch off the top of
the Beacon into a frighteningly violent wind, in
which he actually soared the Primary for nearly ten
seconds. He thus became the first ab-initio to obtain
a British gliding certificate. (Note the subtle
difference between bis priority claim and mine).

Meanuwbile, early in June, the Club bad taken part
in a demonstration at Itford on the South Downs.
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sealing Christ's tomb but then, one would have
expected the ceremony to take place on Easter
Sunday. Who knows? The orange rolling was
suspended during the war years due to non-
availability of the fruit but recommenced soon
after. It was stopped some twenty years later when
the local yobs started pelting the onlookers with
the fruit and the authorities cried ‘Enough’.

From the air, you can see a long mound on top of
the Bowl, which was originally considered to be a
long barrow but is now thought to be a mediaeval
rabbit warren. Rabbits were introduced as a food
source by the Romans and were farmed in man-
made warrens. Eventually, escapees spread across
the countryside and became a pest.

If you look at photographs of the Club site and the
Hill taken prior to the nineteen fifties you will sce
that the Hill had hardly any bushes on it at all. The
Hill was a smooth grass-covered slope and this was
because it was grazed by sheep and closely
cropped by the large rabbit population. It was the
epidemic of myxomatosis that virtually wiped out
the rabbits and allowed the hawthorns and other
bushes to get a foothold and spread over most of
the slopes. Some years ago, a squad of Boy Scouts
attacked the face of the Bastion and cleared a large
stretch below the diagonal drovers’ track. For
several weekends they chopped and burnt the
growth but it was too big a job to last and it was
abandoned to nature once more.

Shown on old maps is a pathway which led from
the Club gates up the now filled-in gully to the foot
of the drover's way on the Downs, and was called
Sweetway Bottom. Bedford Records Office holds
the old tithe maps from 1848, which show the field
systems and the names for each part of them. Our
Hangar Ridge was known as Nutpath Hill and the
caravan patch as Cole’s Bottom.

About a mile to the north of the Club can be scen
a large circular field on the edge of Totternhoe
Quarry. This is Maiden Bower, an enclosure dating
back to the Iron Age, some 2,500 years ago. It has
not been established whether these sites were
religious in nature or trading centres but it does
scem they were not domestic settlements. Some
forty years ago, in Spring, it was possible to see
patterns in the crops growing inside the circle
denoting ditches or perhaps storage hut sites, but
now after years of deep ploughing, these are no
longer showing up from the air. Totternhoe itself
has its Castle Hill, surmounted by a Norman motte
and bailey with the Roman camp site called Castle
Yard adjoining. The deep ditch and embankment
around it date from earlier times.

Other ancient sites near the Club lie on top of
Ivinghoe Beacon where the faint outline of the
earliest Iron Age fort in Britain can be seen, and to
the north east is Ravensburgh Castle near Barton in
the Clay. A Romano-British cemetery has been
unearthed in the middle of Dunstable and the site
of a very large Roman villa was found opposite the
church in Totternhoe in 1923. It was partly
excavated and then covered up again to preserve
it.

Dunstable used to be the main supplier of skylarks
(the feathered variety), to the food markets of
London in Victorian times and trapping was a local
occupation. There used to be a well-known
expression ‘Sings like a Dunstable lark’ as these
birds were caged and sold in those days. Loss of
grassland has led to the demise of this attractive
bird and it is very unusual to see one nowadays.
Twenty years ago they were very common on the
field. Perhaps our big tractors and gang mowers
have something to answer for. Another now rare
bird that used to be around was the Red-backed
Shrike.
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horrified, and dashed off to hire himself a
respectable Ford Zephyr instead.

In 1965, the Marconi Company contacted the Club
for help with a project to see the extent to which
gliders showed up on radar. Trials were carried out
over Essex using the Club’s Skylark III and one of
the Tiger Moth tugs. Various types of passive radar
reflectors were tried, some consisting of strips of
aluminium tape stuck on to various parts of the
aircraft. Mike Till, Colin Richardson, John Cardiff
and Jim Wingett did the flying, mostly out of
Colchester airport. The radar was at Rivenhall and
would direct the glider to Wheeley Heath, a
farmer’s strip that they would use for the rest of the
day, sometimes doing nine flights. On one
occasion the glider release jammed while Colin was
being towed up through cloud and they gained
another 500 fect before he managed to free it. Mike
in the tug spiralled down towards Wheeley Heath
but found it completely clamped in so diverted to
Ipswich. Colin told Rivenhall of the situation and
they gave him a course to fly for Ipswich. He
reckoned he had plenty of height to spare but he
was still in cloud when approaching the estuary.
The airport was quite a way over the other side
and Rivenhall advised him to turn back if he had
doubts. Colin did decide to press on, broke cloud
halfway across the water and just managed to
scrape into the airport without circling or using the
airbrakes. The extra 500 feet before release had
made all the difference. While they were flying out
of Wheeley Heath, the farmer was grubbing up an
orchard with explosives and every now and then
there would be a shattering crash. They hoped he
would not project an apple tree into their flight
path on take off!

Mike Till recounts even more fraught situations that
cropped up during the course of the trials. On
many of the sorties, the glider was towed up to
heights of 8,000 feet over the North Sea and on
cast off, Rivenhall Radar gave a course to the east.
Eventually instruction to turn back to land was
given, but as many of the flights were carried out
blind, complete faith in the controller’s advice of
location was needed. On one flight, sea fog had
rolled in over Ipswich and on Mike’s return
approach he was really sweating until, breaking
cloud at about 100 feet, he saw the runway
numbers directly beneath him.

Piloting the Tiger Moth up to high altitudes in mid-
winter was no joke either. The cold was intense in
spite of many layers of clothing. The gap between
top of flying helmet and top of goggles caused
intense pain as it froze and Mike’s solution was to

wedge in a pad of rolled up cloth. This worked
well until it unrolled on one approach and blinded
him. The whole test programme involved over 200
aerotows.

All flights were carried out with full co-operation of
Air Traffic Control and bricfings had been
circulated to all airfields in the area including the
military. However when on one descent though
cloud, Mike came into an area of clear air several
hundred yards long but still completely surrounded
by cloud, a US Air Force Voodoo fighter suddenly
appeared head-on at the same level. The Skylark
and the Voodoo passed wingtip to wingtip at a
closing speed of some 350 mph and Mike clearly
recalls the face peering out from the bone-dome
behind the perspex. An enquiry was held and as
Mike entered the building where it was taking
place, an American licutenant colonel shouted
across the hallway ‘That’s the guy’, so clearly had
he seen him. The Marconi operation was
completely exonerated of any blame and it turned
out that it was the colonel’s third air-miss that year.

A story Mike Till told against himself was about the
time they were preparing to tow out of Ipswich
with a fair crosswind. The Skylark was hitched on
to the Tiger, which was standing facing a parked
aircraft. To turn a Tiger Moth into wind, it was the
practice to give a burst of throttle with the stick
held full forward and full rudder. This usually
worked well but this time the crosswind prevented
the swing around and the Moth trundled forward
straight towards the parked machine. With no
wheel brakes to slow it down, Mike switched off
the engine and the metal prop had stopped when
the Tiger came to rest, the engine cowling having
bent the parked machine’s tail fin. Mike and John
Cardiff pushed the bent fin upright and as nobody
seemed to have noticed, carried on and took off.
Fortunately the damaged machine was a derelict so
no harm was done and any altercation with
authorities avoided.

Two course members were comparing notes on the
relative merits of the instructors. ‘I can’t see any
difference between John Jeffries and Mike’ said
one.’ I can,’ retorted the other, JJ pulls much
harder when we are getting the glider back to the
launch point.’

Long time member Mike Garrod worked as a Met.
Office forecaster and read the daily weather news
on Radio Four or its then equivalent.

The mid-sixties to mid-seventies saw a dramatic
increase in the flying activity at Dunstable. Under
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Chuck Bentson, seeing Mike Riddell and Mike

Fairman about to fly a K 7: ‘I don’t know which of
them I'd rather not be!

One of the more experienced lady pilots was heard
to say, ‘It was so rough I was dropping both wings
and didn’t know which one to pick up!

Lawrence Wright: ‘In my old age, T will always look
back on the long sunny days I have spent at
Dunstable in the cockpit of a sailplane waiting for
a launch!

There were a number of traditional gliding songs
composed over the years and these were sung with
gusto to the accompaniment of the Club piano.
Who ever hears a tune whistled or hummed these
days?

HYMN No. 119

All skies bright and beautiful,
All thermals great and small,
All tasks set are impossible,

John Jeffries makes them all.

Each little twit that flies them,
Each vario that sings,

He made their tips all coloured,
He made their flexing wings.
The cold wind in the winter,
The thermals in the spring,

The ASI is twitching,

Stuff down that bloody wing.

All skies bright and beautiful,
All thermals great and small,
All tasks set are impossible,

John Jeffries makes them all.

THE LAD’S PRAYER

Our glider which art in the Club’s workshop, ASW
be thy name. Thy bill will come, thou willst be
done on earth as it is in Sailplanes.

Give us this day our daily task and forgive us our
trespasses into airspace as we forgive those who
trespass in ours.

Lead us not into sink, but deliver us from cu-nims,
for thine is the wingspan, the ballast and the glide
angle, for ever and ever, landing out.

THE SHOBDON SHAKE - By Peter Banting

The rope tightens, the adrenalin flows,
Wing tip runner knows how it goes,
Rudders are kicked and ailerons flicked
But weather cocking glider has us licked.
Tug slew’s left, I go right

What am I doing here, its only first light?!

A few days of this and make no mistake
You soon develop the Shobdon Shake.
John calls it a holiday but have no doubt
It’s breakfast at 6 a.m. and no opting out
It's daft and its crazy, so don't be late
It's Shobdon and JJ, it’s bloody great.

@
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nose on tow behind a Dakota. He also did some
camera work from the astrodome on one of the
Dakotas. Considering that there were no Horsas left
in existence when the film was made, the result
was surprisingly effective.

In the mid seventies the Club was adopted by a
bird of the feathered variety, which turned up one
day and proved to be not only completely tame but
a dipsomaniac as well. If the bar was open, it
would fly inside and wait for someone to buy a
beer and then try and scrounge a drink. It was a
starling and would perch on anyone’s finger if it
was outstretched or on a shoulder if outside the
building. After a few sups of beer it would
become decidedly squiffy and start staggering
around, which was all very well except that it
would then defecate all over the bar. Ron
Humphries, who had the bar concession at the
time, eventually got fed up with this and took the
bird in his car to the middle of Dunstable, releasing
it back to the wild to plague someone else.

Late one night during the winter of 1974, a farewell
party for the caterers the Harmandian family was
being held in the restaurant when someone dashed
upstairs shouting that the hangar was on fire. The
response he got was not what he expected, and
with difficulty he persuaded the partygoers that he
was not joking. Although there were only about a
dozen of them, they managed to empty the hangar
in less than ten minutes and get at two Tiger Moths
at the back, which were blazing. They were
manoeuvred outside and the fuel tank of one of
them exploded. None of the gliders suffered any
damage at all and the Tigers got away with just
three of the wings being burnt beyond repair. The
source of the fire was a mystery but it was almost
certainly arson.

After landing in a field one afternoon, Frank
Pozerskis was asked by one of the locals where he
came from. Frank, perhaps not so aware of the
subtleties of the English language that give totally
different meanings to ‘Where bave you come from?’
and ‘Where do you come from? replied, ‘Lithuania’.
This prompted a very reverential: ‘What, today?
Cor?’

One of John Jeffries’ interesting flights was when
flying with a pupil in an AS-K 13 somewhere out
near Edelsborough, they saw a wall of fog forming
up between them and the Club. Attempting to get
back to the airfield John realised that the visibility
had become zero, so he flew at minimum speed in
a gentle circle hoping he would see the ground
before he hit something. As he circled, he could

hear the traffic on the Tring Road but could sce
nothing at all. Then the ground appeared just
below his wingtip, so he straightened out, opened
the brakes, and managed to get down in to a field.
Just as the glider stopped rolling, he saw the
outline of a brick building no more than six yards
ahead of him - a very close thing indeed.

On another occasion, John took a bungee launch
from the south west launch point and tucked in
close into the Hill at a height of only some twenty
feet. He got into the up-draught and crabbed
around the Bastion, gaining height all the way until
he soared above the Hill top and got away. It was
a fascinating demonstration of what can be done in
a Ka 8.

The Golden Jubilee of the Club was celebrated in
February 1980 with a grand dinner held in the
Sculpture Gallery of Woburn Abbey. Two hundred
and fifty guests attended the event, which was
superbly organised by Annabel Ellis. Many of the
early members of the Club from the thirties turned
up and the speakers were Godfrey Lee, past
Chairman, John Sproule and Peter King, current
Chairman. Two of the youngest members of the
LGC made a special point of attending so that in
the year 2030 they would be able to attend the
100th Anniversary as old codgers and reminisce
about the ‘good old days’ of 1980!

October 1987 saw The Great Storm, when winds of
hurricane force swept the south of England.
Dunstable did not escape unharmed and several
trailers and aircraft got damaged. The shed in
which the AS-K 16 lived in winter time was
completely demolished and the fragments
distributed from the Clubhouse trailer rack down to
the Lynchets. On their way, the larger bits of the
roof and walls struck several trailers: damaging the
Capstan, Weihe and Oly 463 inside them. The Kite
trailer was speared by a length of four by two
timber attached to four square feet of roof, but it
penetrated the only bit of the trailer without any
part of the glider in it. The floor of the shed
remained where it was, with the AS-K 16 fuselage
sitting on it virtually unscathed apart from a broken
canopy. The wings too had hardly any damage: a
few tears in the fabric and a small break in a
trailing edge.

In 1987 my Moswey was having attention to the
sealing of its canopy, which was a large perspex
bubble moulding. A strip of fuzzy foam was coated
with Araldite, placed into position at the front of
the cockpit aperture, and then, to hold it in place
while it was setting, the canopy was locked down.

48 TAKE UP SLACK






























remnants of mainspar and aileron pushrods still
attached to the fuselage which broke into three
pieces. The force of the blast perforated one of
Graham’s eardrums and he hardly heard Peter’s
urgent instruction to ‘Get out’. The canopy had
already gone and, freeing their seat straps, they
took to their parachutes amid a shower of white
plastic fragments. Peter, whose neck had been
singed by the blast, landed badly and broke an
ankle. Graham landed safely but on the tin roof of
a disused petrol filling station in the village of
Northall. A passing builder untied the ladders from
his van and helped him down. The parachute
descent had been seen from the Club but it was
assumed that a mid-air collision had occurred. Two
trailer loads of debris were collected from the
surrounding fields and taken to be analysed by the
AAIB at Farnborough. The wreckage was laid out
in a hangar with the bits in their relative positions.
It appears that the lightning strike travelled down
the aileron push rods from one wing to the other,
on the way blasting out the whole of the top of the
fuselage centre section. The event has attracted
wide interest among accident investigators around
the world.

It is perhaps interesting to note that Peter was well
known for his comprehensive pre-flight bricfings
which had been known to provoke sarcastic
comments from duty pilots impatient to clear their
launch queues, but this day his meticulous practice
more than paid off.

They say that lightning never strikes twice in the
same place but perhaps ‘they’ are wrong, as for the
glider that Peter Goldstraw was flying, it was its
second contretemps with a cu-nim. One day,

AS-K 21 Golf Bravo Papa was being flown on an
AFI flight by Geoff Boswell when a winch launch
was taken under a dirty looking lump of cloud.

Near the top of the launch as Geoff rcached for the
release knob, there was a flash of lightning and the
pupil noticed that the release cable was arcing to
its guides at each point it passed through them.
Geoff released from the launch, observed that the
vario was off the top of the clock, and then they
were into a heavy deluge of rain and could not see
a thing. The vario then hit the bottom stop and
Geoff flew the circuit more or less by memory,
squinting out of the clear vision panel and
managing to get the whole outfit down on to the
field safely. They had obviously flown into a highly
charged area which had earthed via the winch
cable, fortunately without harming the glider or its
occupants.

Expansion of operations in the sixties and seventies
meant an increase in flying staff with the
appointment of a regular winch driver and tug pilot
and in the Office, extra ladies (some part-time)
helped with the administration ably supervised by
Margaret Clarke whom many will remember during
her 27 years employment. In the mid-ninecties, the
number of staff, full and part-time, reached the all-
time high of 15 but this has since dropped slightly.

Since 1966, flying operations have been supervised
by a professional CFI or CFI/Manager supported by
paid staff instructors but there was a major change
in policy in 1998 when Club member Bill Craig
took over the CFI post on a voluntary basis. He
instituted an intensive campaign to recruit Club
members to train as instructors and offer a pilot
development programme. This system was a great
boost to pilot enthusiasm besides offering a
measure of relief to hard-pressed Club finances.
After getting the scheme running smoothly, Bill
stepped down and passed the baton to Andy Roch,
again unpaid but very keen to keep up the impetus
of change for the good.
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Dunstable archaeologists probably also had a big
say to protect the ancient features.

Up to 1949, a 33Kv clectricity supply line ran from
the power wire slope diagonally across the fields to
the westerly corner of the Club buildings. These
power wires were very vulnerable to having cables
dropped across them, and on the day that the Golf
Club was officially opening its new clubhouse, a
lady named Miss Fox-Strangeways managed to do
just that from her Grunau Baby winch launch. With
a mass of VIPs on parade on the Downs, the
proceedings were disrupted when the electricity
supply disappeared. Our relations with the Golf
Club were rather strained as a result: not a
welcome situation, as glider landings on the golf
course were a not infrequent occurrence when
poor penetration prevented the Hill from being
regained from a weakish thermal on a windy day.
With a view to extending the winch run, it was
planned to put the electricity cables underground.
It so happened that the father of John Hurry
belonged to the same London club as the chairman
of British Calender Cables. With a bit of wheeling

PRATT'S FIELD

‘.‘ buried 1949

Map showing the areas purchased
to extend the airfield.

HANGAR RIDGE

*
*, Route of power cable

and dealing, the LGC got the required length of
expensive oil-filled cable at a very good price
indeed and the cable was duly buried, opening up
the field for winch launching into easterly winds.

The power wires running across the field had
always been a hazard and Charles Ellis claims to
have been the only winch driver to have dropped
the cable over them twice!

In the mid fifties, the Club wanted to extend the
airfield towards Ivinghoe. But before negotiations
with the farmer were initiated, Dan Smith went
through the deeds of the original sale, and found
that a field we later called the Annexe was, in fact,
part of the deal, and this had not been realised.
Johnnie Walker was instructed to prevent the
farmer from spring ploughing, but Dan received a
phone call to say that it had already been started.
He immediately dropped what he was doing at his
business and drove out to Dunstable and stopped
operations. Once the intervening hedge was
grubbed out, the way was opened for a much
longer winch cable run to the south west.

DUNSTABLE
DOWNS

GOLF
—  CLus

Area sold to
Bedford County Council

1vsy @

THE BASTION

T

- Site of cable
drag hift

POWER WIRE
‘- SLOPE
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Following this, 5.5 acres of fields known as Gold
Hill were bought for £500 in 1958 and these are
where the east wind aerotows start. Behind the
hedge adjoining this area was a line of boarding
kennels for dogs. One afternoon Alan Stagg, trying
to cope with a cable break, ran the T.21 Barge into
this boundary. There was a second of silence after
the sound of splintering wood and then the most
tremendous outburst of barking shattered the
peace.

The third extension of the airfield was the 12.9
acres of the Glebe Field, which enlarged the
Annexe down to the present hedge at the north
east launch point. This was purchased in 1959.

Finally, in 1968, 29 acres of church land the South
East field - were bought from the Vicar of Eaton
Bray, part of his ‘living’. This field filled the area
between the Annexe and the field at the foot of the
Power Wire Slope, and forms the right hand side of
the north east landing field. There were no deeds
to this property and the Club had to take out an
insurance policy for 15 years of cover in case
anyone turned up to claim ownership. Fortunately
no one did. By 1972, the Club had repaid all loans
connected with land purchase and owned the
airfield.

To the south of the Clubhouse complex and behind
the short trailer rack the ground fell away very
steeply to a gully which ran down to the Club road
entrance. Halfway down this slope was a Lynchet
(a pre-historic cultivation terrace). Along this ledge
were two huts used for accommodation first the
Foster Hut belonging to Frank Foster and his wife
Pat, and secondly a road man’s hut mounted on
great iron wheels of the sort that would be seen
being towed behind a steam roller some 40 years
ago. This belonged to Dennis Ratcliffe, a local
policeman. Further along still was the pump house,
a small wooden structure covering the Club’s water
supply wellhead. The electric pump occasionally
had to be switched on by hand, and in wet
weather it was quite a dangerous operation to slide
down the slope and clamber up again.

Just to the south west, the sloping field was used in
the fifties for autocross racing before it was
levelled. Club member Dr.Pinkerton was a leading
light of the Sporting Owner Drivers’ Club, otherwise
known as The SODs. He owned a beautiful Alvis
with a polished aluminium body, and under a
reciprocal agreement in 1952 their members came
to fly gliders and were allowed to use the airfield
for their car events. Pairs of cars raced each other
around the slippery grass track and many well-

known faces were seen, including Graham Hill
who raced a Dellow special.

In 1967, a pipeline carrying cement slurry from
Rugby to London was laid along the northern
boundary of our field below the Lynchets and up
and over the Downs. A nominal wayleave payment
had been arranged, when inspection of the Club
deeds revealed that the part of the Downs where
the pipe was buried was our property.
Compensation was claimed and the cement
company paid up over £2,000. Since then, the pipe
has been relaid and the route up the Downs above
Hangar Ridge fenced on both sides.

Around 1968 there was a great shortage of tipping
facilities in south Bedfordshire, and the opportunity
was taken to establish a tip to fill the gully and
give us a greater flat area for flying operations.
Lorries started dumping earth and rubble behind
the Clubhouse and trailer rack, working out
towards the south west. This became a major
undertaking with a constant stream of heavy
vehicles carrying all sorts of scrap lumber, concrete
drainpipes, junk metal, furniture, old cars and
plastics. You name it, it was there. The Tull
brothers salvaged enough aluminium from the
dump to make all the fittings for their new Diamant
trailer. The wear and tear of all this heavy traffic
was damaging our entrance road, so the
contractors built 2 new one in parallel. You can see
this threading through the bushes on the right as
you enter the Club. It is now somewhat overgrown
and makes a nice nature reserve for the rabbits.
Tipping went on for sixteen years and a large level
area was created between the Clubhouse and the
east wind launch run. It is reckoned that three
quarters of a million cubic yards of material was
dumped in 75,000 lorry loads! The Club finances
benefited from a levy on the tipping contractors,
and sundry bits of resurfacing on the entrance road
and a hangar apron was also laid. The main trailer
rack was sited on this new ground, and Colin
Kruse put in a lot of hard work concreting in the
hitch posts, with a power point for electricity
supply.

Later, Colin came up with an ambitious scheme to
extend the airfield even further. The idea was that
he would buy the land between the pig farm and
our airfield and establish a tipping operation to fill
in the whole of the low ground. It would have
been an enormous undertaking and would have
been very profitable, well over and above the cost
of the initial purchase. The scheme never got off
the ground as it would have had to be approved
by the Chiltern Society, an environmental group
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Nissen hut. These were all dismantled to lower the
rates payable to the local council.

There is a small brick building behind the Ottley
Workshop known as The Quaker Hut. It acquired
this name as it was originally used as a meeting
room for the committee, and the surrounding area
of Bedfordshire was the stamping ground of the
Quaker movement. It also housed the Club library
of aeronautical books until they disappeared. The
hut was renovated in recent years and now serves
as a store.

One other survivor from the wartime era is the
brick-built tractor shed near the entrance. This was
originally the detention block for the prison camp,
and the partition walls between the cells were
removed to open up the interior. As late as 1960,
there were still graffiti on the back interior walls in
German, showing days of sentence marked off as
having been completed. The Guard Room is now
serving as a secure paint store.

This room, before it was used for storing
inflammable paints, served as a store for fuel and
was usually kept locked. Inevitably, the person
with the key went out on to the field or was flying
when something needed refuelling. Johnny Walker
thought he would solve the problem by attaching
the key to a large lump of very heavy chain. This
worked well for some time but, sure enough, the
day came when someone took it with him to the
launch point. You can’t win with gliding people!

The Workshop

One of the Club buildings which was used
commercially after the war was the workshop (now
London Sailplanes). Hawkridge Aviation took it
over for some time when they were building
Daglings, Grunau Babies and, the Venture, a two-
seater somewhat resembling a T.21. Les Moulster,
later a Club member, served an apprenticeship in
the workshop which stood him in good stead
when he helped Jeff Butt restore the Primrose Kite
in 1957.

There was a very unusual activity in the London
Sailplanes workshop at a later time. Frank Costin,
an ebullient character who rebuilt and flew a Scud
I in the forties, had teamed up with a man called
Jem Marsh to produce the Marcos sports car. The
Marcos was unique in that it had its chassis
constructed from wood and Frank used the

expertise of the workshop to build some of these
very light, strong structures. ‘Ah, wood’, said Frank,
'marvellous stuff — it's nature’s plastic!” An
aerodynamicist by profession, Frank had been
involved with Lotus in designing low-drag bodies
for their sports and racing cars. He designed the
all-enveloping bodywork for the highly successful
Vanwall Formula One team cars. Also, with Peter
Davis, he built a two-seater glider the Condor
which first flew in 1953.

The Club workshop facilities changed over the
years. The tiny office in the north cast corner of the
building has now tripled in size and a retail shop
has been incorporated. The lean-to part of the
workshop at the western corner, which was
originally a garage, has had access put through to
the main workshop and woodworking machinery
installed. A new separate paint spraying booth has
been built and oil-fired space heating has replaced
the old coke-burning iron stove. In the roof space,
storage rooms have been built and an instrument
calibration facility incorporated. The workshop
now has a full range of metalworking and welding
equipment, and has acquired a good reputation for
its standard of repair and maintenance work.

Tug Hangar & Offices

One of the most enthusiastic tug pilots, Terry
McMullin, had for many years campaigned to have
a separate hangar built to house the tug aircraft.
Fiddling tugs into the existing Clubhouse hangar
via the door on the north east side was so time
consuming and damaging to the aircraft that
eventually plans were drawn up for the present tug
hangar and office complex. Office work was
previously handled in the one small room at the
back of the shop office.

After several years of procrastination by the
Committee, work on the new building started in
1979 and was completed in 1980, helped by a hefty
grant from the Sports Council. All of the new
facilities: dormy rooms, toilets, showers, and office
and workshop space, to say nothing of the tug
hangarage have made a tremendous contribution to
the easier running of the Club. It is interesting to
note that the Club treasurer of the time was
vehemently against the whole scheme, which he
reckoned would take 20 years to pay off.
Fortunately he was proved wrong and in eighteen
months, the whole of the £140,000 had been
cleared.
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Chapter 9

GHOSTS

here are some local tales of hooded
horsemen haunting the Hill and of ‘Shuck’,
a glowing eyed big black dog, but the
immediate surrounds of the Club are not
particularly spooky. There have been a few
supernatural happenings reported for what they are
worth. The first event dates from 1951 when
someone was working under a car in the garage
workshop. As he was wriggling his way out from
under the vehicle he saw the legs and feet of
someone walking past him. And as he got up off
his knees he saw it was Jack Hanks, the staff
instructor, who said nothing to him but just smiled
and went out of the door. As he followed him out
a few seconds later, the member was aware of a
commotion and people rushing up the hillside.
There had been a mid-air collision and one of the
machines involved was the Camel, flown by Jack,
who was now lying dead in the wreckage. How do
you explain that? Early in the 60s Jim Wingett, the
resident instructor, was living in the staff
accommodation in the old huts and, together with

Ann Seabrook and two others, decided to try and
hold a seance with an ouija board and a tumbler.
Sitting around in the dark, after some minutes
things started happening with the glass shooting
around all over the table. They all took fright at
this and took refuge in the Clubhouse.

Another event was in 1995 when Peter Firth was
staying over in one of the office block bunkrooms.
During the night he got up to visit the gents and
saw a figure dressed in World War One flying gear
standing in the entrance foyer and looking at the
notice board. The lights were on and he saw him
quite clearly. As Peter turned into the toilet
entrance the figure came towards him, passed by
and then disappeared through the solid end wall of
the building. Peter claims he had not been on the
bottle and found it extremely disturbing. The Club
site has no First World War associations at all
although it must be recalled that Tim Hervey, our
first manager, had served in the Royal Flying Corps
and had died four years before this apparition.
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Chapter 12

THE TEST GROUP

uring the second half of 1957 the BGA

decided to formalise and extend its

Flight Test Groups. The idea being to

ensure a degree of uniformity in
methods of testing, (mainly handling) for
certification of new and modified glider types
including foreign imports, while at the same time
spreading the burden of carrying out and reporting
on such tasks.

Group No 3 was set up at LGC with Dan Smith
nominated as Chief Test Pilot. Cedric Vernon took
on much of the flying and almost all the
organisation and reporting, although many other
pilots also took part, especially when additional
opinion was deemed necessary and for two-seater
tests. The gliders’ owners were charged only the
cost of launches, the relevant paper work being
provided free.

Weight and balance information for the glider to be
tested was sometimes available, but quite often not.
In the latter case the glider was first weighed and
its CG determined. For tests at the forward C of G
Dan usually flew the glider. For those at the aft C
of G limit, Cedric usually flew with some ballast
(adjusted to the nearest pound). This was secured
externally to the rear fuselage just ahead of the fin
by a crude but effective device made of chair
webbing, bolts, wing-nuts and locking wire, plus
layers of carpet felt to protect the glider structure
and skin.

When it came to the Schweizer 2-22, built by
Slingsby as an exercise in metal construction, the
tail-ballast device was inadequate because of the
very wide CG range, and the aft CG condition was
achieved by flying solo from the back seat with
some ballast bolted to the front seat.

In some cases, for example second-hand imports,
no position error data was available, and when it
was considered essential to know what the
corrected speed was, measurements were made
with a trailing bomb shaped sensor. This was
mounted on a specially-designed carrier attached to
one wing. Its 50ft rubber pressure tube, whose

upper end was passed through the DV window
and was connected to an additional airspeed
indicator, secured the bomb. A wooden fairlead
screwed or clamped the tube to avoid applying a
load to the canopy. Before take-off the tube was
figure of eight looped beside the pilot, who had to
hold it in one hand braced against the fairlecad, to
hold the device against its brackets. It was lowered
bit by bit during the aerotow. This required care
but was not difficult. When the test was complete it
was hauled in again. This was more difficult, but
not so much so as it sounds. The test consisted of
flying at a series of speeds, at each one reading
both ASI's as simultaneously as possible and noting
down the results. One started just above the stall,
increased speed in stages to about 90% of
maximum permitted, and then reduced again in
stages. It was important to lock on each stage
quickly, a knot or two different from the target
value not being important.

The tests carried out varied a lot and most
concerned handling. Brief descriptions of a few
examples follow.

Among the simplest were the Kite 1 and Scud II
which had been fitted with spoilers. Opening and
closing the spoilers at various speeds to check trim
effects, plus a few stalls and spins at mid CG were
sufficient, but the opportunity was taken to run
quickly through the new British Civil Airworthiness
Requirement then in preparation. Each glider took
about an hour and a quarter.

Full handling tests, which sometimes involved
development flying, were of course longer, e.g.

Swallow 5 hours
Jaskolka 9 hours
T.21C 7 hours
Capstan 15 hours

In these cases the CG range was explored fully.

As regards the Capstan, the wing design had been
modified following tests on the prototype at
Lasham.
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>>> table continued from previous page

1957 |National 100km triangle record 74.5km/hour F.Foster Skylark 11
1959 | UK National Championships win Lasham Geotfrey Stephenson |Skylark 111
1960 | First 300km triangle from Dunstable LGC - Lasham - Nympsfield | Phil Jeffrey Skylark III
1962 [National 100km goal record 70.7km/hour M .Bird Skylark 11
1964 |National multi-seat 100km record 66.5km/hour G.Camp & D.Grey- |Eagle
Fisk
1974 | UK multi-seat record, 100km triangle 83.5km/hour J Jeffries & G.Love | Calif A21
1974 | UK multi-seat record, 300km triangle 81.1km/hour JJeffries & G.Case | Calif A21
1974 | First 500km flight and 500km triangle from LGC |71.40kph LGC - East F.Pozerskis AS-W 17
Retford - Mynd - LGC
1975 | UK multi-seat record, 400km triangle 68.4 knv/hour J Jeffries & G.Love Calif A21
1975 | UK multi-seat record, 300km O/R 81.9kph JJeffries & N.Foster | Calif A21
1975 | UK multi-seat record, 500km triangle 88.4kph JJeffries & G.Case  [Calif A21
1984 | UK record, 300km triangle 102.2km/hour. Robin May AS-W 20
1988 |UK multi-seat record, 300km triangle 92.12km/hour R.May & T.Stuart AS-H 25
1988 | UK multi-seat record, 500km O/R 74.29 km/hour R.May & P.Stamell AS-H 25
1988 | UK multi-seat record, distance O/R 520km R.May & P.Stamell AS-H 25
1988 | National multi-seat record, O/R 712 km in Finland. R.May & S.Jones AS-H 25
1988 | UK multi-seat record, 100km goal 132.5km/hour. R.May & D.Brook AS-H 25
1988 | UK National Championships Open Class win Lasham Robin May. AS-H 25
1989 [ UK National Championships Open Class win Lasham Robin May. AS-H 25
1989 [ UK multi-seat record, 100km triangle 124.1km/hour. R.May & E.Morris AS-H 25
1990 | UK National Championships Open Class win Lasham Robin May. AS-H 25
1990 | UK multi-seat record, 300km O/R 104.3km/hour. R.May & J.Berringer | AS-H 25
1990 [ UK multi-seat record, 200km. triangle 119.07km/hour R.May & P.Townsend | AS-H 25
1990 | UK multi-seat record, 600km triangle 94.94km/hour. R.May & S.Lynn AS-H 25
1993 | UK multi-seat record, 200km goal 121.1km/hour R.May & H.Rebbeck |AS-H 25
1995 [ National multi-seat record 500km o/r 135km/hour in USA R.May & N.Hoare AS-H 25
1995 | National multi-seat record, Goal distance 892.1km in USA R.May & P.Rackham |AS-H 25
1996 UK multi-seat record 500km triangle 116.8km/hour (unofficial) |R.May & D.Standon |[AS-H 25
1996 | UK multi-seat record, 300km triangle 119.1km/hour (unofficial) [R.May & D.Stewart AS-H 25
1996 | UK National Championships Open Class win Enstone Robin May AS-H 25
1999 | European Women's Championship Standard Poland S.Harland AS-H 24
Class Win
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Chapter 22

EXPEDITIONS

n a re-enactment of the LGC activities of 1930

in April 1957 the Scud II, the Gull T and an

Olympia were trailed over to Ivinghoe Beacon

and bungied off to soar the north slopes. They
all eventually landed at the bottom, but when
Norman Preston went to open the gate for his
trailer he found a large notice that said: ‘Beware of
unexploded missiles’. That part of the Beacon had
been used as a mortar range in wartime and had
not been 100% cleared afterwards.

In a 1961 copy of the LGC Gazette, Peter Fletcher
recounts how he, Pat Holmes and Ron Watson took
the Super Kadet on a bungee expedition to
Amberley Mount on the South Downs. Besides
being the abode of Pat, this hill was the site used
by the gliding pioneer Jose Weiss when
experimenting with his tail-less machines in 1909.
Before actually venturing off the top, Peter decided
that in view of the scratch bungee team they had
recruited which included several children, a few
practice launches on a flat meadow might be a
good idea. The results were a bit marginal so their
standby method was brought into play. A hefty
stake was driven into the hillside and 200 feet of
steel cable threaded through a pulley secured to it.
The shock absorber and Ottfur rings were attached
to one end and the bungee rope to the other. This
was then stretched by Ron’s old Bentley at 45
degrees to the flight line. At full stretch, the tail
holder let go and the glider sailed off into the air.
Several flights were carried out but the wind
strength was not really adequate. Each time the
glider arrived at the bottom it had to be de-rigged
and carted up the hill again for a re-rig: all very
hard work. Eventually the obliging farmer decided
that his young corn was suffering too much and
suggested they use another landing site. Peter
Langford was next to fly, and putting down in what
looked from the hill top to be a suitable area, ran
into a claptrap and had the fuselage skewered by
some 8 inch high stakes concealed in the grass. A
moral was lcarned here always to inspect a
potential landing field from the ground if at all
possible.

At about the same time, the Primrose Kite syndicate
ventured north to explore the then new Portmoak

site. The airfield had a dogleg halfway down and at
the corner stood a steel telegraph pole, around
which was laid the winch cable. On launching, the
cable ran up the pole and twanged straight once it
had cleared the top. This was quite undetectable in
the glider and the system survived until the
adjoining field was bought, enabling a straight run
down the airstrip. Both the west-facing Bishop and
the north-facing Benarty Hills could be reached
fairly easily from a winch launch. However if it
looked as though a certain paler rock patch on the
face of the Bishop was not going to be reached,
one turned back and took another launch. The Kite
put in many hours over a ten-day stay including
two five hour duration flights at about 3,000ft. A
minor excitement one day was when the Grunau
Baby from the Aberdeen Club landed near the
summit of Benarty and had to be manhandled a
quarter of the way down the hillside before a
suitable bungee site could be found. Then, when
landing at the bottom, it had to be ground-looped
to avoid a solid Scottish stone wall, and broke its
skid.

On one of the expeditions to Shobdon, John
Jeffries was flying AS-K 13 with Jane Jones in the
front seat. On getting very low near Abergavenny,
a suitable field for landing was selected and an
approach started. Suddenly they ran into 4 knots
sink and John decided to go into the field on the
undershoot. ‘Look out, John,” cried Jane, ‘There are
wires’. John dived underneath them, but there was
a bright flash as they were struck by the wing
leading edge and the canopy. But a safe landing
was made. The canopy, however, had a film of
copper deposited on it, and of course, the locality
had lost all its electricity supply.

In 1985 my Kirby Kite was taken to a vintage rally
at the Midland Gliding Club on the Long Mynd. In
four flights it flew eight hours, durations being
limited by the uncomfortable seating position and
the creaky hips of the ageing pilot. Notably, the
flights were initiated by four different launch
methods as the wind strength increased during the
week. The first launch was by aerotow, the second
by winch, the third by bungee and the fourth by
shoulder launch. This almost unheard-of method,
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A brief description of the more noteworthy types of
glider operated or seen at Dunstable over the years
follows, some of which are of great historic

interest. (Listed in alphabetical order).

AS-H 25

Two AS-H 25s have been flying from Dunstable
since the late eighties. With its twenty five metre
wing span, this two-seater is one of the world’s top
performing gliders and in the hands of John Jeffries
and Robin May has set many UK speed records.

AS-K 13

Tandem two-seater which served as the basic
training aircraft for twenty years from the early
sixties

ASK 21

From 1986, this GRP two-seater has served as the
basic trainer aircraft at Dunstable. Fully aerobatic, it
has good cross-country capability when required.

ASK 23

Introduced at the same time as the AS-K 21, this
rugged single-seat glider has proved its worth as a
Club machine.

AS-W 12

At the 1965 World Championships at South Cerney
was an exotic creation by the Darmstadt University
Akaflieg called the D36. This embodied all the
state-of-the-art technology of the then new GRP
construction. Schleichers the great German
manufacturer, came out with their AS-W 12 based
on the D36 and John Jeffries, ever in the fore,
formed a group with Stewart Frazer-Beck (The
Baron) to operate one from LGC. This glider had
the then phenomenal glide ratio of 1:47 but,
instead of airbrakes, was fitted with a tail parachute
only for a landing aid.

AS-W 15
Schleicher’s first glass glider had greatly superior
performance to the Ka 6 series which it replaced.

AS-W 20

One of the most successful competition machines
of the seventies, the AS-W 20 could be flown in the
15m Class or with tip extensions for even higher
performance.

AS-W 22

This 22m machine was developed from the

AS-W 12 and AS-W 17, both thoroughbreds in the
gliding world.

Camel

John Sproule and Sacha Ivanoff designed this small
11.4m sailplanc in 1939 and had it constructed by
Scott Light Aircraft in Dunstable. With an enclosed
cockpit, it had wings which could be folded back
against the fuselage for hangarage. Sproule
reckoned he could have saved 50lbs. weight had
he not built in the folding system. It flew up to
1951 when it was destroyed in a fatal collision with
an Olympia over the Hill.

Discus
Schempp-Hirth’s Standard Class sailplane is highly

competitive and there are several examples flying
at the Club (2000).

Foka IV

Mike Fairman and Mike Riddell imported one of
these exotic gliders from Poland in 1964. Notable
for its extreme reclined pilot seating, it was
described by Frank Irving as ‘A small boy’s idea of
what a glider should look like.’ Its wing loading
was, perhaps, a bit high for British thermal
conditions and as its ground clearance was almost
non-existent it was very vulnerable to outlanding
damage.

Grunau Baby

Designed in 1932, more GBs have been built than
any other glider, mostly in Germany of course. A
Grunau I was home-built by Club member
Desoutter before the war and many privately
owned GB Hs have been on site. The Club
operated a Hawkridge Aircraft-built Grunau for
many years from 1948 and it is still airworthy at
Lasham. Two examples live at the Club now. The
one owned by Laurie Woodage was built by the
Royal Navy at RNAS Fleetlands in 1947 using a pair
of NSFK wings, and sports a rounded Kite
empennage. At one time it was fitted with a pusher
engine on a pylon above the wing. This was
removed after a test flight at Boscome Down had
required almost the entire length of the runway to
get airborne! The other GB is a German pre-war
model owned by Dave Kahn.
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Hols der Teufel

A significant glider of the pre-war era was the Hols
der Teufel. Dudley Hiscox imported a kit of parts
for £40 in 1933, and got the wings assembled free
of charge as an exercise by the apprentices of De
Havillands. The rest was built in the drawing room
of Marcus Manton in Cricklewood, supervised by
Harry Bolton, a Handley Page craftsman.

The Hols was a larger version of a Nacelled
Primary but it had the ability to soar, many Club
members seizing the opportunity of building up
their sum of soaring minutes in it. Dan Smith was
bungied off the Hill top and managed to spin it in,
but as he said, his total gliding time at that point
was all of three minutes.

In 1935, Dudley commissioned an ‘improved’
version of the Hols and this appeared with a very
streamlined nacelle, a wheel on the stick for
aileron control as the very narrow width precluded
lateral movement of the stick and, believe it or not,
a twin tail arrangement. By pressing on both
rudder pedals at once, the rudders would both
move outwards to act as an airbrake. The machine
rejoiced under the name of The Dunstable Devil
and since Dudley disposed of it in favour of one of
the first of the Kirby Kites very quickly, one must
assume that it was not much of a success.

In 1991, Mike Beach completed construction of a
Hols der Teufel and brought it to Dunstable for its
proving flights, which it performed successfully.
Later that summer, Mike was probing around the
foot of the Bastion with a metal detector when he
found a gold medallion inscribed “WGCGC 1936
LADIES CHAMPION “. It did not take much thought
to realise this was a golfing trophy, and researching
the files of the Welwyn Garden City local paper
revealed a Mrs Baker as the winner that year. The
incredible coincidence is that Mrs Baker was the
last owner of the pre-war Hols and her medallion
turned up 55 years later when the next Hols
arrived.

IS-28 & IS-29

In the mid-seventies, the Club had the agency for
the Rumanian all metal ICA-Brasov gliders, the IS-
23 and IS-29. Syndicates operated four IS-29s, one
of which included the great actor David Jason, and
the Club ran an IS-28 two seater for several years.
It will be remembered, if for nothing else, for the
extreme weight of the tail end if it had to be lined
up for launching.

Jaskolka

From Poland in 1959, a group led by John Jeffries
imported a Jaskolka sailplane, which was fully
aerobatic. Many pilots tried their hand at flying it
and one visiting pundit managed to crack the ply
on the wing top surface by over-stressing it during
inverted manoeuvres. Another had the canopy slide
open during aerobatics and got damaged.

Ka 6

The ‘CR’ and ‘E’ versions of this classic wooden
sailplane have delightful handling characteristics
and did well in competitions during the sixties.

Kestrel

Vic Ginn, an expert woodworker, started
construction of a two-seat glider designed by a
Pole, Mr Lesniak, and which was based
acrodynamically on the Olympia but with sharply
raked-forward wings. These wings he built at his
home at Luton, but due to lack of space they had
to be built up the staircase. The fuselage was built
in the Club workshop. Before it was completed,
Ron Dodd and Jeff Butt took over the project, and
by 1969 they had completed the job. They took the
glider to Enstone for its first flight, which was
carried out successfully, demonstrating pleasant
flying characteristics. It flew at the Club for many
years before departing to Cranficld, and now flies
at the Borders Club. Other gliders bearing the same
name were the 1934 Dunstable Kestrel, a
development of the Willow Wren, and the
Glasflugel and Slingsby-built GRP machine of the
1960s.

Kirby Kite

Long time residents at Dunstable were two
examples of Slingsby’s great success, the Kirby
Kite. The prototype had been bought in 1935 by a
well known speedway rider, Frank Charles, who
took it to the Lakes Gliding Club site at Barrow on
Furness, had himself bungied off the hill top and
literally taught himself to fly on the way down! He
named the Kite Cutty Sark. The aircraft was
acquired by Mike Garrod in 1954 and brought to
Dunstable. The other Kite was bought in 1957 by
Jeff Butt and Les Moulster, who carried out a
rebuild and fitted spoilers to it. It was known as
the Primrose Kite. Several ever-changing syndicates
cut their soaring teeth as private owners on these
two gliders, and very many Silver ‘C’ legs were
flown. The prototype has since fallen to pieces due
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to careless storage but the other, after 24 years in
the hands of the author, went to a new owner at
Halton where it lives rigged in a heated hangar.

This should preserve it in flying condition for many
more years.

Libelle

A first generation GRP sailplane now outclassed in
competition but very popular now as a private
owner machine. The longest resident Libelle at
Dunstable is ‘504'(Lucy). This glider was purchased
by the October Eight syndicate led by Dilys Yates
and has been on site since new.

LS Series

Few of the early Lemke Schneider aircraft were
seen at Dunstable, a position reversed when the
LS-4, LS-6 and LS-8 appeared on the scene. They
are now highly thought of.

Minimoa

In 1971, Les Moulster found a Minimoa sailplane in
Holland whose owner had died. A syndicate of
eight was quickly formed and an offer made for
the machine. This was accepted. One very stormy
day, an intrepid Dutchman set off from Deventer
on tow behind a Rallye in rain and with cloud base
only 200ft. Battling into a strong south westerly, it
took them four and a half hours to get to Luton
where they arrived at dusk. They had been towing
at 90 knots and, to ease the control loads, had six
bungees hooked between the top of the stick and
the instrument panel. Terry McGee was an HM
Customs officer at Luton at the time. As it was too
late to clear the aircraft that day, the Minimoa was
pushed into a hangar under the wing of a Britannia
airliner for the night. Next day, the paperwork was
completed and the Mini was towed back to
Dunstable where it soared for an hour without
variometers before landing. On C of A inspection,
it was found that the elevator cable was half frayed
through! The Minimoa, a classic glider from 1937,
has been under spasmodic restoration for the past
twenty years but one day, perhaps, it will be seen
again gracing the skies above the Downs.

Nimbus

Schempp-Hirth’s answer to the AS-W 17 and AS-W
22. The Nimbus I was a regular competition
winner and was followed by the IIT and IV of even
higher performance.

Petrel

In the fiftics, a syndicate operated a 1939 Slingsby
Petrel at the Club. This most beautiful of gull-
winged sailplanes was a classic of the pre-war
period and was aerodynamically based on the
German Rhonadler. As a light wind soarer there
was nothing to touch it. Now flown from Husbands
Bosworth, it is occasionally seen attending vintage
meetings at Dunstable.

Rhonsperber

Perhaps the most renowned of the historic
sailplanes at Dunstable is the Rhonsperber that Kit
Nicholson and Doc Dewsbery imported in 1936,
and in which they carried out many great flights.
Kit flew it to second place in the 1938 National
Championships and won with it in 1939. The
Sperber did no more flying for 40 years, a long
retirement during which damp ravaged it, and
when Rodi Morgan rescued it in 1977 only the
fuselage and one wing were in reasonable order.
Using the remaining wing as a pattern, a new one
was built and the whole aircraft restored to fly
again in 1980. After Rodi died in a power flying
accident, Francis (Lofty) Russell brought the
Sperber to the LGC where it continues to be the
centre of vintage attraction.

Rhonbussard

Another twelve-month project was carried out in
1991-92 when the author restored a 1935
Rhonbussard. A previous owner in Germany had
reduced the length of the ailerons by 50 per cent
which made the handling on take-off somewhat
problematic, although it appeared to handle well
enough when airborne. Once again, a jig was built
in the Ottley Workshop, this time of Dexion to hold
the wings rigidly in position while new ailerons
were constructed and fitted. In 1999 the
Rhonbussard departed to the USA where it will
soar the skies of Oregon. There had been three
previous Rhonbussards flying at Dunstable before
the war, one owned by the Pasold brothers who
were from Czechoslovakia, and another by Joan
Meakin (later Price) who aerobatted it at Cobham’s
Air Shows around the country. In the fifties Frank
Foster owned this glider, and it still exists in the
hands of Chris Wills having undergone a major
rebuild of the wing spars.

Scud I
Two of these diminutive gliders have flown at
Dunstable since 1945. Frank Costin and John Ellis
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rebuilt the first of these over a period of twelve
days in a blitz effort in the late forties. The wing
plan had been modified during the work and larger
tail surfaces had been provided. The second was
owned by John Jeffries. Shortly after he sold it, the
aircraft was destroyed in a garage fire at the home
of its new owner. In recent years Mike Beach has
built a replica from scratch, but before being flown
it was purchased by the Brooklands Museum.

Scud I

Another early machine was the Abbott Baynes Scud
11 belonging to John Jeffries. This glider with its
distinctive diamond shaped fuselage and parasol
wing carried John on many magnificent flights, on
one occasion reaching Shoreham on the South
Coast having over flown London a superb source
of thermals, said John. This aircraft too was rescued
by Mike Beach and restored to its 1934
appearance.

Scud II

In 1957, Les Collins (known to everyone as Ho Ho
from his habit of singing this refrain as he worked)
brought the later Baynes-designed glider, the Scud
HI, to the Club, and after fitting spoilers flew it for
three years. He then decided to renovate it,
spending 16 years on the job. Just before it was
finished, an empty Blanik trailer blew away in a
gale and landed across the middle of the Scud
trailer crushing the aircraft inside. Les spent
another 16 years of sporadic work without finishing
it. In 1992 the author bought it from him and spent
the winter rebuilding the starboard wing. The rest
of the glider had been restored to an incredibly
high standard so it was soon flying again in the
spring of 1993. At this stage it had a total of 80
hours in its logbook covering its life of 58 years!
The glider was originally equipped with a 250cc
Villiers motorcycle engine which folded away into
the fusclage just like on a Turbo Ventus. In 1936
the aircraft was launched on the engine into an
easterly from in front of the Clubhouse. It did get
off the ground but got caught in the Hill curlover
and spun in, completely wrecking itself. Ron Clear,
later a De Havilland test pilot, bought the remains
and spent four years rebuilding it with no drawings
to work from. Stretching the remains to the extent
of the control cables and then filling in the
intermediate gap determined the length of the rear
fuselage. He completed it in 1940, and test flew it
at Winchester Hill successfully but was arrested on
landing for illegal flying in wartime. He and his
crew spent the night in Winchester Gaol.

In 1997, Lauric Woodage brought the second of the
two Scud IIT’s to the Club. This had also spent a
period at Dunstable, when in about 1953 it
belonged to Bob Swinn. It had been sold without
an engine fitted (as originally intended), but Bob
decided to see what could be done about that. He
followed the original design and fitted a 350cc
Villiers motor, slightly bigger in capacity than the
prototype. Sensibly, he decided that Dunstable’s
rolling field was not the place to test fly, so he and
Colin Rogers trailed the Scud up to the deserted
wartime airstrip at Wing. Bob made two or three
lift-offs down the runway, but the rate of climb
seemed so abysmal that he was not prepared to try
a circuit and put the machine back down each
time. Colin then had a go and did manage to coax
it around, but there was obviously not enough
power to carry on safely. The engine was taken
out, and finished up exhibited at the Science
Museum, South Kensington, with a caption ‘The
smallest engine to have flown a hcavier-than-air
machine’. The engine is no longer on display and
is in storage at Wroughton, its claim probably
having been supplanted by those of powered hang
gliders. To have both Scud III's built in 1935
airworthy and flying from the same site is quite
remarkable.

Sigma

In the sixties, a consortium was formed to design
and build the ultimate performance glider, and was
named Project Sigma. This exotic device could vary
its wing area by retracting its trailing edges, but
troubles with sealing the gaps prevented it ever
showing its potential. The Sigma had a span of
21m and was very heavy indeed. It had to have a
tripod and gantry to enable the wing centre section
to be rigged. It was brought up to Dunstable one
weekend, but because of the nature of our field it
was not flown here. It is now in Canada where
more development work was undertaken.

Skylark II-S

Martin Simons decided in 1966 that the only way
he could afford a glider of reasonable performance
would be to rebuild a wreck, and accordingly got
hold of a badly smashed Skylark 1I. This was the
one which Derck Piggott flew in a storm cloud to
over 21,000ft and suffered several lightning strikes,
the damage from which was only discovered
during the rebuild. After a lot of very hard work in
the Ottley Workshop and with the help of Vic Ginn
with some of the critical bits like splicing main
spars, Martin incorporated several modifications to
pep it up. The wings were lowered six inches, the
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angle of attack reduced and span extended to a full
15 metres. The leading edge was modified to a
Wortmann profile and the wingtips reworked to
reduce vortex drag. Finally a Dart canopy gave the
completed machine a more streamlined
appearance. Named the Phoenix and designated a
Skylark 1I-S by the BGA, it was extremely quiet and
nice to fly. After being owned by many syndicates
and for many years reposing unwanted in its trailer,
it has now been rescued and is being brought to
airworthy condition again.

Skylark III

The Skylark I1I was the great British competition
glider of the late fifties and early sixties and there
were some half dozen flying at Dunstable at that
time. Perhaps the most ambitious construction
effort was by the brothers Vic and Ron Tull, who
from 1960 to 1963 built a Skylark Il from scratch in
the Ottley Building. A wooden jig ran the whole
length of the right hand side of the workshop and
on this the three-piece wing was assembled. The
workmanship was superb and the resultant aircraft
was a real beauty. Vic had built the glider for
competitions. Unfortunately construction took so
long that by the time the glider was finished, glider
development had moved on and the Skylark was
becoming outclassed. After a few scasons, the
brothers themselves moved on and bought one of
the first successful glass ships, the Swiss 18 metre
Diamant, which they flew for many years before
acquiring a Kestrel.

T.21P (The Barge)

Over the last forty years or so Dunstable has seen
some interesting and even unique gliders, including
the prototype T.21P which Slingsby built in 1944.
This differed from the production aircraft in that it
had a removable fairing covering one’s legs and
feet and which contained the instrument panel. On
warm sunny days it was pleasant to fly the
machine without this fairing (flying in the nude as
it was referred to), sitting on the flat decking and
thermalling by the seat of the pants.

T.21B

This was Slingsby’s production two-seater and the
mainstay of British gliding training from the forties
to the sixties. The Club had at least five examples
over the years and in 1957 John Everitt and John
Hands flew one in the two seater class at the
Nationals. One privately owned T.21 is still
operated by Mike Stringer’s syndicate in 2000.

T.21C

Slingsby tried a development of the T.21 by
lowering the wing to shoulder position and fitting a
closed canopy. Known as the T.21C, only one
example was made and the Club bought it, flying it
during the seventics mainly for joyriding. It carned
the nickname of The Dragmaster and is now
awaiting rebuild in Holland where its nose was
written off.

Vulture

An ambitious big project was a two-seat 20 metre
machine called the Vulture which was designed by
Jeff Butt and Ron Dodd, and was to have its wings
built using the Tulls’ jig. A syndicate was formed
and work commenced. All the wing ribs were
made and wood cut for the wing spars before a
halt was called. The project was abandoned when
an Eagle sadly in need of restoration was obtained,
and seen as a quicker way to getting into the air. A
lot of work was done on this Eagle including
lowering the wing mounting, extending the span,
altering the leading edge profile and the wingtips
and, of course, moulding a new canopy to suit. Jeff
Butt confounded his critics with their never-cnding
refrain of ‘Itll never fly’ by actually getting it
airborne by his promised date, but he then
returned it to the workshop for painting and
finishing. It never did get completed as, sadly, Jeff's
health deteriorated and he could no longer work
on it.

Weihe

In 1961, two Weihe sailplanes built in 1942 were
bought from Sweden and arrived at Harwich Docks
on an open railway truck covered only by a
tarpaulin. They had not suffered any damage in
transit and the two fuselages were squeezed into
the Sky trailer, the wings being lashed to a Queen
Mary trailer. They were brought down to Dunstable
for their new syndicates headed by John Cardiff
and Roger Barrett. The latter’s glider rececived a
blue and white paint job the following year and
moved on to the Newcastle Club. Delivering this to
Leeming Airfield was not without event. It was
during the very severe winter of 1962-63 that the
syndicate set off via Luton where they planned to
collect the glider logbook. At a crossroads, the
nearside trailer wheel mounted the snow piled up
by the roadside and there was an almighty crash as
the trailer rolled over onto its side. A bus slithered
to a stop and the passengers helped to get the
trailer back on its wheels to reveal about six feet of
the rear floor hanging down on to the road. A
towrope wrapped around it solved that problem
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and the whole outfit was taken back to the Club to
await repair. There was hardly any damage to the
glider as everything had been well tied down
inside.

The next Weihe to come to Dunstable was the
Surrey Club’s famous one that Philip Wills had
rescued from the Wasserkuppe at the end of the
war, and which had completed a cross-channel
flight to Brussels flown by Lorne Welch. Lofty
Russell's syndicate flew this for many years until it
was wrecked by an Alpine thunderstorm while
attending the Vintage Rally at Thun in Switzerland.
A Weihe constructed in 1953 by Focke Wulf
replaced it.

Willow Wren

In the roof of the hangar used to repose the bits of
one of the earliest gliders built in this country - the
Willow Wren, designed and built by Bill Manuel in

1932 and owned by the Read brothers. During its
time of construction in Dunstable, Bill Manuel was
living in a second-hand pantechnicon parked in
Farmer Turvey's field adjoining the Club. Kit
Nicholson was one of the shareholders in the
Willow Wren and he managed to spin it into the
Hill top at Dunstable without hurting himself. In
the pre-war film Plane Sailing, the Wren can be
seen on another occasion spinning into the slope at
Sutton Bank. It had some washout incorporated
into the wingtips when Bill rebuilt it for the Read
brothers and it did not spin again. All the time it sat
in the rafters, nobody showed any interest in it
until eventually Norman Jones of the Tiger Club
took it away in the early seventies and restored it
to show condition. After many years in storage, the
Wren was acquired by Mike Beach who carried out
one of his superb restoration efforts on it. Before it
was quite finished the Brooklands Museum
acquired it so, sadly, it will not be seen in the air
again.
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APPENDIX II

ANNUAL TROPHIES & AWARDS

There are a dozen or so trophies
which are awarded annually to
deserving Club members.

The ADRIAN HEATH TROPHY
for the most promising young
pilot was presented by John
Heath in memory of his son
Adrian.

The CELLON TANKARD for the
best ab initio pilot is the oldest
trophy having been presented to
the Club in 1930 by the paint and
dope manufacturers Cellon.

The JOHN BENTLEY SHIELD is
awarded for the best Silver ‘C’ of
the year and commemorates a
very keen pilot who flew here in
the seventies.

The JOHN HANDS CUP is in
memory of John who was very
active as an instructor, committee
member and marshal at many
competitions. It is awarded for
the best new instructor.

The FRANK FOSTER
BOOMERANG. Frank was a
commercial pilot who died in an
accident in the Mediterrancan.
With Nick Goodhart, he won the
two-seater class in the 1956
World Championships in France.
The Boomerang is awarded for
the best out and return flight.

The REGIONALS CUP is for the
best performance by a Dunstable
pilot in our Regionals.

The STAFFORD ALLEN TROPHY.
This is a bronze model of a
Capstan and is given for the best
flight in a two-seater. Ray was
Club Manager 1956 — 62 and
became the BGA Chief Technical
Officer.

The DESSOUTER CUP was
presented by Louis Dessouter,
one of three brothers who ran a
power tools and artificial limb
company. Louis built a Grunau 1
in the thirties, renowned for its
beautiful construction and the
cup is awarded for the best
constructional effort.

The DENT CUP commemorates a
member who invented a
variometer and whose brother
partnered Geoffrey Stephenson in
the Grey Kite in the mid-thirties
and is awarded for the most
meritorious flight.

The DERRY TROPHY is a
wonderful mounted bronze
replica of the Cambridge
sailplane and was given in 1937
to the Club by Cyril Derry, the
business partner of Dudley
Hiscox. It is awarded for the best
contribution effort to the Club.

The DENTED CUP was presented
by Ted Coles for the ‘hairiest’
retrieve during the year.
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